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GLA AEB Procured Provision Market 
Warming Events – Q&A 

 
Q1: It is great that in-work learners are now able to access more funding, but if 
we have to allocate more of our funding to this group, we need more funding 
otherwise we may have to divert funding from someone else that needs it.  

A: Fully funding learners who are employed and in low pay is an extension of the 
government’s trial but adapted to London’s needs, which is why we have committed 
to raising the threshold to the London Living Wage. As with the government’s pilot 
there is no additional funding attached to this eligibility extension. 

We recognise that this will require a change in how providers plan their funding and 
could impact on learner participation levels. City Hall has done some modelling on the 
potential impact of the extended flexibility and will review what is being delivered in the 
first year of devolution against this to help plan for the future and create a skills system 
that is tailored to meeting London’s needs. 

 

Q2: Do we have to put a preference if we apply for both lots? 

A: Every Bidder applying for both Lots must express a preference between the two 
Lots in Part 1 of the ITT questionnaire. 

 

Q3: How does the GLA assess a Bidder’s capacity to deliver the activities they 
propose in their Bid? 

A: The GLA will assess the capacity of each Bidder to deliver the services they are 
proposing through their responses to the ITT. In addition, the Bidder must successfully 
pass the financial due diligence process as outlined in the Financial Health 
Requirements and Guidance tender document.  

 

Q4: Is an ‘outstanding’ due diligence rating sufficient for track record and due 
diligence?  

A: The assessment of a Bidder’s track record is separate from the financial due 
diligence process. The track record is assessed through the SSQ which has a 
minimum pass mark of 50. An ‘outstanding’ financial due diligence rating is sufficient 
to successfully pass the financial due diligence process. Financial due diligence will 
only be undertaken on those Bidders that are successful at the SSQ and the ITT 
stages.  

 

Q5: There is approximately £32 million of funding available per year. Could this 
be consumed by 13 larger contractors each bidding for £10 million? 
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A: Theoretically it is possible but based on our analysis of previous AEB delivery in 
London we consider that this scenario is unlikely. The number of contracts awarded 
will depend on the quality of the bids we receive and the available budget. Analysis of 
the 2016-17 AEB delivery data, the most recent that has currently been made available 
to the GLA, indicates that only one independent training provider spent more than £3 
million on provision for Londoners, and three other organisations spent between £1 
million to £3 million, therefore it is unlikely that we will have a large number of 
organisations bidding for £10 million. In addition, the amount of funding requested is 
not the determinant of whether a bid will be successful - a good quality bid for a smaller 
amount of funding is more likely to be successful, while a poor quality bid for £10 
million is likely to fail. 

 

Q6: What evidence do you require for self-employment? 

A: The GLA AEB Funding and Performance Management Rules for Procured 
Providers which is published as part of the tender documents provides guidance on 
this.  

 

Q7: Under which Lot would young people who do not sign-on for benefits sit? 

A: The eligibility criteria and entitlements for AEB are set out in the GLA AEB Funding 
and Performance Management Rules for Procured Providers. The Lots are not age-
specific. Lot 1 targets learners who are unemployed or economically inactive, while 
Lot 2 targets learners who are employed. All learners funded through AEB must be 
aged 19 years or older. A learner may be employed, economically inactive or 
unemployed to participate in AEB training, but whether they are fully-funded, co-
funded or loan-funded is determined by a combination of their labour market status 
(as determined by the AEB definitions), their age and the training they wish to 
undertake, as set out in the Contribution Table in the Rules.  

There are some differences between AEB and ESF definitions of labour market status 
which affect how an AEB Procured Provider may report a learner in relation to the ESF 
targets, but AEB definitions take precedence when considering a learner’s entitlement 
to funding according to the Contribution Table. For example, a learner who is not 
receiving any benefits but who is nonetheless able to evidence that they are without 
work, available for work and actively seeking work would be categorised as 
“Unemployed” from an ESF perspective and an AEB Procured Provider could report 
this individual against their ESF targets for unemployed learners in Lot 1. Similarly, 
where a provider can evidence that a learner is not receiving any benefits but is not 
working and is neither available for work nor actively seeking work this learner would 
be categorised as “Economically Inactive” from an ESF perspective. In this case, an 
AEB Procured Provider could report this individual against their ESF targets for 
economically inactive learners in Lot 1. However, neither of these individuals are 
receiving any state benefits and therefore neither would meet the AEB definition of 
“Unemployed” (as defined in the Rules) and so they would not be entitled to the fully-
funded provision for unemployed learners as set out in the Contribution Table. 
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Q8: Are inspectors existing staff, and what qualifications do they have to do the 
job? 

A: AEB Procured Providers will be assigned a GLA Provider Manager. The GLA will 
not carry out inspections, this function will sit with Ofsted. We are working with the 
ESFA and the GLA’s internal auditors to develop an audit process.  

 

Q9: If I submit a tender as a Sole Lead Bidder, do all of my subcontractors need 
to complete sections 1 and 2? 

A: If you are relying on subcontractors to meet the requirements of the SSQ, they need 
to complete Parts 1 and 2 and Part 3 Section 4 of the SSQ, the QAR template and a 
self-declaration.  If a subcontractor is not relied-upon to pass the SSQ, they should be 
included in the table for delivery partners, but they do not need to complete the SSQ. 

Please note that if a relied upon organisation does not have a track record for any of 
the requested years, the Bidder can still be successful in passing the SSQ stage if the 
track record of the partnership meets the selection criteria. 

 

Q10: The GLA has committed to fully funding British Sign Language as a first 
language. Would this entitlement apply to people with hearing loss for whom 
English is still a first language? 

A: The policy decision to fund British Sign Language was made on the basis of 
enabling proficiency for those who use it as a preferred language of communicating.  
The Funding Rules have been updated to clarify that this entitlement applies to all 
learners who are deaf, deafened, or are registered as deaf.  

 

Q11: Could a prime change or add subcontractors once the contract has been 
awarded? 

A: Yes, the prime would need to discuss this with the GLA first and provide reasons 
for the change. The GLA will need to approve any changes before they are 
implemented. For further information please refer to the GLA Specification for the AEB 
Procured Provision and the GLA AEB Funding and Performance Management Rules 
for Procured Providers. 

 

Q12: The majority of AEB courses are only fundable up until 2021. Are bidders 
expected to pick from all the courses that are currently fundable? 

A: Bidders are expected to select from the current list of fundable courses for their 
delivery. Where a course becomes unfunded in future years, it is usually the case that 
a fundable replacement course becomes available, onto which learners starting after 
the expiry date of the planned course could be enrolled.  

 

Q13: Is the GLA looking to fund smaller organisations directly or as 
subcontractors to larger organisations? 
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A: The GLA AEB procurement is open to all types of organisations delivering all eligible 
AEB provision. The GLA welcomes bids from small and/or specialist providers. The 
scoring and allocation process will treat all Bidders equally regardless of the size of 
the organisation or the bid. Smaller organisations may also bid as part of a Consortium 
or as a subcontractor.   

 

Q14: I have previously been a subcontractor for AEB delivery, and now have a 
direct contract for AEB delivery for 2017/18. How do I evidence QAR data for the 
years where I delivered as a subcontractor? 

A: Bidders in this position would need to follow the ESFA’s QAR Business Rules 
methodology to calculate their overall QAR and complete the disclaimer on the SSQ 
which confirms the data submitted is true and accurate. The Bidder should also 
provide details of the prime provider who subcontracted delivery to the Bidder. The 
GLA may choose to contact the prime provider to verify the information submitted. 
GLA will also be able to verify in year 2017/18 information against submitted ILR data. 

 

Q15: When will the ESOL and digital pilot information be released? 

A: The GLA will shortly be launching a procurement for a separate programme funded 
by the European Social Fund: The Mayor’s ESF 2019-23 Programme. This 
programme includes some ESOL provision, along with other activities. A Prior 
Information Notice has been published and providers who may be interested in bidding 
for this opportunity are encouraged to review the PIN and express an interest on the 
Pro-Contract portal. 

 

Q16: Are there opportunities for small organisations and charities that do not 
have a track record in education and delivering qualifications? Specifically, in 
my case a small organisation that works with people with hearing impairments. 

A: If you are considering applying as a Sole Deliverer, you must have a track record 
of delivering qualifications. Alternatively, you might consider being a subcontractor to 
an organisation bidding as a Sole Lead Bidder or participating in a Consortium as a 
member or subcontractor. 

 

Q17: BSL qualification whilst welcome will not necessarily be the primary 
qualification someone needs? 

A: This is the first year for the GLA in terms of devolution, and we have tried to maintain 
stability during the transition, whilst also introducing a number of priorities for reform. 
We will review what is being delivered in this first year of devolution, to understand the 
provider base, the landscape and the needs of learners. With time this greater 
understanding will help the GLA fine tune its commissioning and meet the skills needs 
of all Londoners. 

 

Q18: How will you track outcomes with the greater emphasis on outcome related 
funding? 
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A: The GLA has indicated in the Skills for Londoners Framework that it believes there 
may be a case for a greater emphasis on outcome-related funding in the AEB in future 
years, but that this would only be introduced following further investigation of the 
options and the potential impact on the sector. For the present, the GLA will continue 
to follow the Education and Skills Funding Agency’s (ESFA’s) approach to the AEB 
funding rates and formulae for calculating payments, as set out in the GLA’s AEB 
Funding Rates and Formula for All Providers. As set out in the GLA AEB Funding and 
Performance Management Rules for Procured Providers, AEB Procured Providers will 
be paid for delivery of adult skills, for learner and learning support, for the achievement 
of qualifications and a ‘job outcome payment’ of 50% of the usual achievement 
payment if a learner leaves their course without having achieved their learning aim to 
take up employment. In addition, AEB Procured Providers are required to commit to 
delivering the target ESF Results for learners that they offer in their Bids.   

 

Q19: There are four sub regions and one section in the ITT document, how can 
you effectively talk about the sub regions and accommodate pan-London needs 
in such a small space in the ITT questionnaire? 

A: We consider that the ITT questions and the space provided for answering those 
questions is sufficient for you to demonstrate your understanding of the sub-regional 
priorities outlined in the Specification.  

 

Q20: How will individuals be funded that perhaps live on the borders of London 
and work in London? 

A: Currently, only residents of London with a London postcode can be funded through 
the GLA’s AEB programme. Providers who want to deliver to learners who live outside 
of London will need to engage with other AEB funding agencies. 

 
Q21: Please clarify the point around payments for a job if it is not ESF compliant. 
 
A: Under the current AEB rules if a learner progresses to a job before they achieve 
their learning aim the provider can draw down 50% of the ‘achievement payment’ that 
would have been received for achievement of the learning aim as a ‘job outcome 
payment’. To receive this job outcome payment the learner needs to self-certify that 
they have a job for more than 16 hours per week for at least four consecutive weeks 
and (as a result) that they are no longer claiming unemployment benefits. To ensure 
compliance with the ESF requirements for match funding purposes, the AEB Procured 
Providers will need to collect additional evidence to verify this job outcome such as 
wage slips or an email from an employer, as set out in the GLA’s AEB Funding and 
Performance Management Rules for Procured Providers. If an AEB Procured Provider 
is unable to collect this additional evidence but is able to collect the above-mentioned 
self-certifications then the provider may still claim the job outcome payment but it can 
only be funded from their Flexible Allocation.  

 

Q22: Under the procured provision will the learner contribution required remain 
the same as per AEB grant funding? 
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A: Yes, this will be same. The Contribution Table in the GLA’s AEB Funding and 
Performance Management Rules for Procured Providers clarifies which learners are 
fully-funded, co-funded or loan-funded for which types of provision. The GLA AEB 
Funding Rates and Formula for All Providers details the funding methodology.  

 

Q23: How will geography be considered in the scoring methodology and how 
will the Sub-Regional Partnerships influence procurement outcomes? 
 
A: The scoring methodology is outlined in the tender documents. The Sub-Regional 
Partnerships have been consulted during the development of the AEB Procured 
Provision and the skills priorities which have been set by each Sub-Regional 
Partnership are set out in the Specification. Providers will need to indicate in the ITT 
response how their proposed provision will meet local demand and the needs of the 
wider sub-region. Representatives from the Sub-Regional Partnerships sit on the Skills 
for Londoners Board which will be notified of the AEB contract awards following 
approval.  

 

Q24: Are AEB non-regulated aims eligible, for example gaining basic skills in 
Lot 2? 
 
A: All non-regulated and regulated aims which are eligible under AEB grant funding 
are also eligible for AEB Procured Provision. Bidders should check the Learning Aims 
Reference Service on the Hub for confirmation of the eligibility of the qualifications that 
they intend to deliver.  

 

Q25: Will the project be performance-managed against the provider application 
or the industry benchmark? 
 
A: The GLA will performance manage all contracts against the targets that Bidders 
have proposed in their bids. It is important to consider carefully the figures that you 
provide in the Funding Volumes and Values Template so that both your AEB and your 
ESF targets are realistic and achievable. As explained in the GLA’s AEB Funding and 
Performance Management Rules for Procured Providers, the GLA will be paying AEB 
Procured Providers using the ESFA’s ILR driven funding methodology and payments 
system, and your performance will also be managed against the standard national 
profile and the national minimum standards.  

 

Q26: If you are submitting a partnership bid do you need QARs/track records of 
all partners even if they aren’t delivering qualifications? Otherwise will this 
inhibit primes from using providers who haven’t delivered previously as their 
presence in the consortium will drive down overarching partnerships figures? 
 
A: Additional details for each subcontractor, including what they will be delivering, 
should be included in 1.2(b) - (ii) of the SSQ. All Bidders and relied upon organisations 
are asked to submit a QAR template. If it is proposed that a relied upon subcontractor 
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will not be delivering qualifications, they will not be included in the QAR average, if it 
is proposed that a subcontractor will be delivering qualifications, they will be included 
in the QAR average. If a relied upon organisation does not have a track record for any 
of the requested years, the Bidder can still be successful in passing the SSQ stage if 
the track record of the partnership meets the selection criteria.  
 
Consortium bid will be treated as one economic operator. If one member doesn’t have 
a track record to complete a QAR Provider Data Template, the data will be taken 
across the other member(s). Should the member(s) with a track record pass, the 
Consortium would all be successful as they are treated as one economic operator.  
 
 
Q26: If a subcontractor has track record data which is not in scope can this be 
included in the bid? 
 
A: Yes, but you will need to calculate your overall QAR based on the methodology 
outlined in the QAR Business Rules published by the ESFA.  

 

Q27: Could you clarify the difference between a subcontractor and a relied upon 
subcontractor? 
 
A: A relied upon subcontractor is a provider whose role is essential to meet the 
requirements of the SSQ. A regular subcontractor may add capacity to the project, but 
their inclusion is not integral to the delivery of the project and they are not relied upon 
to meet the requirements of the SSQ.  

 

Q28: Is it possible to submit a specialist bid? 
 
A: Yes – the GLA welcomes bids from specialist providers. The final contract awards 
will be determined by the quality of the bids and a good quality bid for specialist 
provision is just as likely to be successful as an equally good quality bid for generic 
provision.  

 

Q29: Does it matter if a provider has gaps in provision? 
 
A: Any track record will be considered. We require Bidders to provide information for 
2015/16, 2016/17 and 2017/18 academic years. If an organisation does not have a 
track record for one or more of these years, they can provide data for only those years 
for which they do have a record.  

Bidders must be able to provide data for at least one of these years. Data for years 
prior to 2015/16 will not be accepted. 

 

Q30: Can a group submit different applications from different subsidiaries? 
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A: Yes, they can, however Bidders should be mindful that they may be potentially 
relying on the same subcontractors and parent company. 

 

Q31: How will you ensure delivery equitably across the regions? 

A: There are no geographic targets for the AEB Procured provision across London as 
it will constitute only approximately 10% of the indicative AEB funding for Londoners. 
The remaining 90% of the Adult Education Budget delegated to the Mayor will be 
allocated via grants across the colleges, local authorities and other grant-funded 
providers, ensuring AEB provision is available in every sub-region.   

 

Q32: What mechanisms are there to ensure that provision and funding isn’t 
replicated in a given geography? 

A: The Sub-Regional Partnerships have been consulted during the development of the 
AEB Procured Provision and the skills priorities which have been set by each Sub-
Regional Partnership are set out in the Specification. Providers will need to indicate in 
their ITT responses how their proposed provision will meet local demand and the 
needs of the sub-region(s), including complementing other existing provision. AEB 
Procured Provision is only expected to be about 10% of the overall AEB funding in 
London and so any duplication that does arise will be limited.   

 

Q33: What qualifications are eligible for funding? 

A: All non-regulated and regulated aims which are eligible under the ESFA’s AEB 
funding rules are also eligible for AEB Procured Provision. As explained in the GLA’s 
AEB Funding and Performance Management Rules for Procured Providers, Bidders 
should check the Learning Aims Reference Service on the Hub for confirmation of the 
eligibility of the qualifications that they intend to deliver. 

 

Q34: In the SSQ what can SMEs do where they do not have a business track 
record over a year?  

A: If you consider applying as a Sole Deliverer, you must have a track record of 
delivering qualifications. If you haven’t been established for more than a year and do 
not have a track record of qualifications delivery you may apply as part of a Consortium 
or a subcontractor to a Sole Lead Bidder.  

 

Q35: Is a particular level of turnover crucial? 

A: The financial due diligence process which is outlined in the GLA’s AEB Financial 
Health Requirements and Guidance will be used to assess the financial health of, and 
provide a financial rating for, all Bidders which have passed both the SSQ and ITT 
stage. The GLA will not award a contract for AEB Procured Provision to any Bidder 
who receives an inadequate rating. The assessment does not look specifically at a 
Bidder’s turnover, but considers organisational income within the ‘performance ratio’.  
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Q36: My organisation is 3 years old, CIC but not on ROTO, can I bid? 

A: Yes  

 

Q37: Can I bid as a Sole Deliverer and be part of a Consortium? 

A: A Bidder can submit only one tender (for one or both Lots) in only one capacity (as 
a Sole Deliverer, Sole Lead Bidder or as a Consortium member). If a Bidder submits 
more than one tender in more than one capacity, none of their tender submissions will 
be evaluated. There are no restrictions on participation in different partnerships as a 
subcontractor. For further information, please refer to the Instructions to Bidders and 
the Specification tender documents. 

 
Q38: Regarding the definition of unemployed/inactive for AEB and ESF, what 
about Universal Credit and the eligibility of learners receiving this? 
 
A:  The eligibility criteria and entitlements for AEB are set out in the GLA AEB Funding 
and Performance Management Rules for Procured Providers. A learner may be 
employed, economically inactive or unemployed to participate in AEB provision, but 
whether they are fully-funded, co-funded or loan-funded is determined by a 
combination of their labour market status (as determined by the AEB definitions), their 
age and the training they wish to undertake, as set out in the Contribution Table in the 
Rules. Learners in receipt of Universal Credit may be defined for AEB purposes as 
“Unemployed” depending on their earnings and benefit groups, as explained in the 
Rules. There are some differences between AEB and ESF definitions of labour market 
status which affect how an AEB Procured Provider may report a learner in relation to 
the ESF targets, but the AEB definitions take precedence when considering a learner’s 
entitlement to funding.  

 

Q39: How do the ESF targets work?  Is there a split in terms of the percentage 
of learners into work and the percentage into job search, for example with 33% 
of economically inactive learners going into job-search? 
 
A: The GLA has not set an expected percentage of learners into work or job-search. 
Tables 3 and 4 in the Specification for the AEB Procured Programme present the 
targets for ESF provision at a regional level and are provided for Bidders’ information. 
As explained in the Specification, Bidders may propose higher or lower proportions of 
learners achieving the ESF Results. Bidders should be aware that many ESF-funded 
programmes are focused on employability rather than qualifications and so the 
regional ESF targets for qualification-based Results in Table 3 are likely to be lower 
than many AEB providers will be able to offer, but what is appropriate and realistic will 
depend on the provision a Bidder intends to deliver and the characteristics of their 
intended learners. The ESF Results that you offer to deliver in your bid will be scored 
as part of the evaluation of your bid and the score awarded will be relative to all the 
other bids received for the relevant Lot.  



10 
 

 
 
 
Q40: It was mentioned that the top bidder will get 100% of what they applied for, 
what will the others get? 
 
A: The highest-ranked Bidder in each Lot will be awarded a contract to the value they 
have requested in their bid, then the 2nd highest scoring Bidder will be awarded a 
contract to the value that they have bid for, then the 3rd and so on until the funding for 
each of the Lots has been exhausted. 
 
 
Q41:  What part of the SSQ does the applicant have to complete?  Is it part 3 & 
4?  Do you need to complete a section for subcontractors? 
 
A: Please refer to the Instructions to Bidders and the SSQ documents where it is 
clearly outlined.  
 
 
Q42: Can you tell us what monitoring will be required?  Currently the ESFA only 
do 1 audit per annum and there are no monitoring visits by ESFA staff. GLA 
have said they will do 1 audit and quarterly monitoring visits.  What will the 
monitoring visit look at? 
 
A:  As explained in the GLA AEB Funding and Performance Management Rules for 
Procured Providers, the GLA expects to undertake quarterly monitoring visits. The aim 
of the visits is to enable us to build a holistic picture of your provision, to develop good 
working relationships with our providers, and to identify and work together with 
providers to tackle any issues that may be impacting upon performance or quality. The 
content of the visits will vary from provider to provider, depending on the performance 
of the contract and any concerns that we have regarding a provider’s evidence or data 
submissions. However, as a rule, the visits will include a discussion regarding 
performance and any concerns or issues with delivery or organisational matters 
related to delivery, a review of delivery and management systems and processes, and 
sample checks on the evidence to support claims for funding and data submissions. 
Monitoring is separate from audit and the GLA is currently in discussion with the ESFA 
regarding their audit approach and how we might align the audits of the GLA’s AEB 
Procured and grant provision with this. 
 
 
Q43: How long will a monitoring visit take?  
 
A: The time will depend on a variety of factors, including whether the contract is facing 
any delivery issues. In addition, the value of the contract is likely to affect the time 
required for the visit as a sample of learner files and other delivery evidence will be 
checked. Currently the GLA check a sample of evidence for 10% of the value of all 
claims. 
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Q44: The Local Authority-run Adult Education and Learning providers may face 
difficulty in getting their financial accounts uploaded with their Bid as the 
budget will be within the Local Authority budget and financial systems. 
 
A: Local Authorities are exempt from the financial due diligence process and therefore 
are not required to submit their financial accounts. 
 
 
Q45: If an organisation is a national provider do they need to submit their local 
QAR data or their national data? 
 
A: They would need to submit their National QAR data. 
 
 
Q46: Are the bids binding? If an organisation is awarded a contract would they 
have to deliver everything in the bid? 
 
A: Yes, a successful Bidder would be expected to deliver the services and will be held 
accountable for the targets offered in the bid. Although a Bidder can withdraw their bid 
at any time before accepting a contract award, we expect bids to be submitted in good 
faith.  

 

Q47: Will contractors be using the same ILR data system as ESFA? 
 
A: Yes, contractors will use the national ILR submission process and additional data 
collection forms provided through the ESFA for now, although this may change in 
future years.  There will also be an additional form to capture the relevant ESF data.  

 

Q48: Do providers fall into the Ofsted remit? 
 
A: The GLA is working with Ofsted to provide quality assurance inspections for all 

provision to London’s learners. 

 

Q49: Will the funding rates be the same as ESFA? 
 
A: Yes, the GLA will be following the same national funding rates and methodology as 
those set by the ESFA with two exceptions. Namely full funding for BSL qualifications 
for deaf, deafened and those registered as deaf, and for low waged learners defined 
using the London Living Wage threshold instead of the national threshold. For more 
information, please refer to the GLA’s AEB Funding Rates and Formula for All 
Providers.  
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Q50: If learners are on or going into a zero hours contract, do they meet the 
AEB/ESF criteria? 
 
A: As explained in the GLA AEB Funding and Performance Management Rules, a 
learner who is working on a zero hours contract would not be counted as “Employed” 
for ESF purposes unless they are actually in paid employment on the day they begin 
their programme of learning. A learner may be employed, economically inactive or 
unemployed to participate in AEB training, but whether they are fully-funded, co-
funded or loan-funded is determined by a combination of their labour market status 
(as determined by the AEB definitions), their age and the training they wish to 
undertake, as set out in the Contribution Table in the Rules. A learner on a zero hours 
contract would be defined as “Unemployed” for AEB purposes if they meet the 
definition of “Unemployed” in the Rules.  
 
A zero hours contract might or might not be eligible for a job outcome payment. To be 
eligible for AEB funding a job outcome must be for at least 16 hours per week for at 
least four consecutive weeks. If an AEB Procured Provider can collect the appropriate 
evidence that a learner has left to start a job before achieving their learning aim and 
has been working for 16 hours per week for at least four weeks they can claim a job 
outcome payment of 50% of the achievement payment, regardless of whether the 
contract of employment is a zero hours contract. If a provider cannot collect evidence 
that the learner has been working 16 hours per week for four weeks, but can collect 
evidence that a learner, who was previously unemployed or economically inactive, has 
secured employment on a zero hours contract then this may be reported as an 
(unpaid) ESF Result. A learner who meets the ESF definition of “Employed” in the 
Rules on the day they start their programme of learning, who subsequently leaves 
their course early to start a job cannot be reported as a job outcome for ESF purposes, 
regardless of the AEB definition of their labour market status on the day they started 
their programme of learning, or the terms of their contract of employment.  
 
 
Q51: The Mencap Society offer traineeships together with pre-traineeships to 
create better opportunities for their client group. Would a combination of pre-
traineeships and traineeships be eligible? 
 
A: No – funding for traineeship provision is not being devolved to the GLA and is 
therefore not fundable out of the AEB Procured budget. Learner progression on 
completion into programmes delivered through other funding streams would not render 
provision delivered by Bidders ineligible for AEB funding, as long as it meets the AEB 
eligibility criteria. 
 
 
Q52: Are individuals who are identified as ‘economically inactive’ eligible to 
participate? 
 
A: The eligibility criteria and entitlements for AEB are set out in the GLA AEB Funding 
and Performance Management Rules for Procured Providers. Lot 1 targets learners 
who are unemployed or economically inactive, while Lot 2 targets learners who are 
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employed. The Flexible Allocation allows Lot 2 Providers to fund some learners who 
are unemployed or economically inactive. A learner may be employed, economically 
inactive or unemployed to participate in AEB training, but whether they are fully-
funded, co-funded or loan-funded is determined by a combination of their labour 
market status (as determined by the AEB definitions), their age and the training they 
wish to undertake, as set out in the Contribution Table in the Rules.  

There are some differences between AEB and ESF definitions of labour market status 
which affect how an AEB Procured Provider may report a learner in relation to the ESF 
targets, but AEB definitions take precedence when considering a learner’s entitlement 
to funding according to the Contribution Table.  

For example, a learner who is able to evidence that they are without work, available 
for work and actively seeking work would be categorised as “Unemployed” from an 
ESF perspective and an AEB Procured Provider could report this individual against 
their ESF targets for unemployed learners in Lot 1. A provider who is able to evidence 
that a learner is not working and is neither available for work nor actively seeking work 
would categorise this learner as “Economically Inactive” from an ESF perspective and 
could report this learner against their ESF targets for economically inactive learners in 
Lot 1. However, these learners may or may not meet the AEB definition of 
“Unemployed” (which would decide their entitlement to fully-funded provision for 
unemployed learners as set out in the Contribution Table) depending on the state 
benefits that they were in receipt of (as explained in the Rules). 

 
 
Q53: How can an organisation with no track record in the UK demonstrate they 
have the experience of delivering qualifications? Especially when those 
qualifications are different from those identified in this programme. 
 
A: For Bidders based outside of England, please refer to the National Recognition 
Information Centre (NARIC) to check the equivalency of the qualifications you have 
delivered. 
 
 
Q54: Can we apply as a Sole/Consortia and be named as a subcontractor in 
another bid? 

A: Yes 

 

Q55: What happens to the other members if one Consortium member fails the 
SSQ?       

A: If you are bidding as a Consortium, you must submit a response on behalf of all 
Consortium members. Consortium members are treated as one economic operator. If 
any Consortium members fail any of the Pass/Fail questions, then your tender will not 
progress to the ITT stage.  

 

Q56: Will you be marked down in the bid scoring if you choose not to focus on 

delivering qualifications at a certain level that meets the benchmarks set? e.g. 

https://www.naric.org.uk/naric/individuals/compare%20qualifications/default.aspx
https://www.naric.org.uk/naric/individuals/compare%20qualifications/default.aspx
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if you don’t meet the benchmark for % delivery of level 3 qualifications because 

you, as a bidder, have chosen not to focus on level 3. 

A: You will not be penalised for focusing on specific qualifications as opposed to 

others. However, please note that your score on your proposed targets will depend on 

the distribution of the targets suggested by all Bidders. For more information on how 

your score of ITT questions 4.2 (a) and 5.2(a) will be calculated please refer to 

Appendix 1 of the ITT. 

 

Q57: Are the targets benchmarks published?  

A: The GLA has not set target percentages for learners achieving different 

qualifications. Tables 3 and 4 in the Specification for the AEB Procured Programme 

present the targets for ESF provision at a regional level and are provided for Bidders’ 

information. As explained in the Specification, Bidders may propose higher or lower 

proportions of learners achieving the ESF Results. Bidders should be aware that many 

ESF-funded programmes are focused on employability rather than qualifications and 

so the regional ESF targets for qualification-based Results in Table 3 are likely to be 

lower than many AEB providers will be able to offer, as well as being lower than the 

national minimum standards. It is for Bidders to determine what are appropriate and 

realistic targets to offer depending on the provision they intend to deliver and the 

characteristics of their intended learners.  

The ESF Results that you offer to deliver in your bid will be scored as part of the 

evaluation of your bid and the score awarded will be relative to all the other bids 

received for the relevant Lot. Bidders should also note that, as explained in the Rules, 

if you are successful your delivery performance will be monitored against both the 

targets in your contract, which will be based on your bid, and against the national 

minimum standards. As explained in the Rules, if you are awarded a contract and are 

underperforming against the national minimum standards, even if you are performing 

against your contract targets, you will not be able to enter into new subcontracting 

arrangements and you may not be awarded growth funding if it becomes available. 

 

Q58: The initial documentation states that the flexible allocation for delivery to 

learners not falling into the category of the specific lot bid for is 10%. The 

presentation states it is 15%. Which is the correct figure?  

A: Please note that a Corrigendum Contract Notice and updated procurement 

documents were published on 14th November. The correct flexible allocation for each 

of the Lots is 15% of the AEB contract funding allocation.  

 
 
Q60: Is there a cap on subcontracting fees? 

A: As stated in the GLA AEB Funding and Performance Management Rules for 
Procured Providers, we will consider a retention of up to 20% of funding to manage 
delivery subcontractors as a maximum cap and would not expect providers to retain 
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more than this.  In exceptional cases, we will consider higher retention amounts and 
then only if there is a compelling rationale.  This will be assessed on a case-by-case 
basis.  
Q61: Is the income threshold for full funding calculated based on the London 

Living Wage as an hourly rate or as an annual income? And how does this affect 

the funding of learners working part time who earn the hourly London Living 

Wage rate but, because they do not work full time, earn below the annual London 

Living Wage rate? Will these learners be fully-funded? 

A: Learners are eligible to be fully-funded if they are eligible for co-funding and earn 
less than the London Living Wage as an annual gross salary on their learning start 
date. Learners will be deemed to earn less than the London Living Wage as an annual 
gross salary if they earn less than the hourly London Living Wage at the point of 
registration, multiplied by 37.5 (hours per week), multiplied by 52 (weeks per year). 
Based on the 2017/18 London Living Wage, this would be £20,572.50, but AEB 
Procured providers will need to check the updated rates each year.  
 
 
Q62: Will the geography of bidders be taken into account when ranking bidders? 

A: No.  
 
 
Q63: Is there a requirement to form a single legal entity if bidding as a 

Consortium?  

A: No.  
 
 
Q64: What methodology is the GLA proposing to validate self-assessed QARs? 

A: GLA will be able to validate QAR data provided for 2015/16 and 2016/17 academic 

years against published National Achievement Rate Tables data. In addition, GLA will 

verify the QAR calculations of all Bidders for 2017/18 based on the methodology 

outlined in the QAR Business Rules and against the ILR dataset. 

 

Q65: If bidding pan-London, do you have to show how you have considered 

delivery in each sub-region? There is not much free text on this question to 

explain the nuances of delivery across qualifications and in different regions on 

London. 

A: Yes, the Bidder needs to demonstrate their understanding of all sub-regional 
priorities if bidding to deliver pan-London. GLA considers the space and the word 
count to be adequate for that purpose.  
 
 
Q66: Can you submit a bid even if the registered training provider is not based 

in London?  
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A: Yes, but the learners to whom the training is being delivered must be London 
residents.  
 
 
Q67: Are learners who work in London but whose residential postcode is not a 

London one eligible to be funded by AEB procured from the GLA?  

A: No, GLA can only fund learners with a London postcode. Providers who want to 
deliver to learners who live outside of London will need to engage with other AEB 
funding agencies 
 
 
Q68: Will the GLA be offering bidders a contract award for less than the value 

that they initially bid for?  

A: The GLA will award contracts to successful Bidders for the amounts they have bid 
for up to the point at which the budget for each Lot has been exhausted. If a 
successfully ranked Bidder has bid for more than the available budget remaining in a 
Lot, the GLA would offer the available budget to the Bidder. If the Bidder does not wish 
to accept this, then an offer would be made to the next highest ranked Bidder. This 
offer would be equal to the value of their bid unless the value of their bid exceeds the 
available budget, in which case the GLA would offer the available budget. If that offer 
were to be turned down by the Bidder, an offer would then be made to the next highest 
ranked Bidder and so on. If the remaining available budget is less than £400,000 this 
will not be offered to the next highest ranked Bidder as this would constitute an offer 
below the minimum contract value.  
 
 
Q69: How will the GLA redistribute underspent procured AEB funds where 

bidders have not been able to meet their delivery targets? Will this money be 

redistributed among all bidders or only those who were awarded a contract?  

A: Subject to consideration and approval by the GLA and budget becoming available, 
additional AEB contract funding may be awarded during contract delivery to AEB 
Procured providers that evidence good performance against their contracted delivery 
targets and meet the criteria for an increase in AEB contract funding as set out in The 
Rules. In addition, the GLA reserves the right to retain all underspend and run a 
separate procurement round if they see fit.  
 
 
Q70: Given the minimum and maximum contract values imposed in the rules, is 

there scope for growth requests to be made above the maximum contract value 

of £10m over the duration of the contract?  

A: Subject to consideration and approval by the GLA and budget becoming available, 

additional AEB contract funding may be awarded during contract delivery to AEB 

Procured providers that evidence good performance against their contracted delivery 

targets and meet the criteria for an increase in AEB contract funding as set out in The 

Rules. More than one increase may be awarded during the contract delivery period, 

but the maximum additional funding that an AEB Procured provider can be awarded 

over the lifetime of their contract will be 10% of the overall value of their original 
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contract. This additional AEB contract funding may take the total revised contract value 

over the maximum lifetime contract value of £10 million. Any decision to award an 

increase, and the value of that increase, is at the discretion of the GLA in accordance 

with The Rules. 

Q71: Is there a danger that small niche providers could receive a lower score 

using this method? 

A: GLA have designed the allocation process in such a way that small niche providers 
and larger providers have an equal chance to secure funding.  
 
 
Q72: There are national providers who deliver AEB funded courses outside of 

London, along with traineeships and apprenticeships. These providers are often 

reliant on AEB funding to support their delivery across these different levels 

and types of skills training. Is there a danger that the GLA’s policies around AEB 

distribution are risking other forms of skills provision? 

A: The GLA have been delegated specific elements of the AEB excluding the 
apprenticeships and traineeships. All the non-devolved AEB provision will be managed 
by the ESFA.  
 
 
Q73: Are providers able to describe what other skills related provision they 

deliver in the bidding documentation?   

A: Providers are encouraged to describe any skills related provision they deliver. GLA 

will take into account all relevant information provided when evaluating the ITT. 

 


